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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	MICHAEL S. GURNETT, 

          Employee, 

              Claimant

          v. 

KINLEY'S RESTAURANT & BAR,

          Employer,

          and 

REPUBLIC INDEMNITY CO.

 OF AMERICA,

         Insurer,

              Defendants.
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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200716426
AWCB Decision No.08-0263  

Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on December 31, 2008


The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (Board) heard the employee’s claim on November 18, 2008 in Anchorage, Alaska.  Attorney Steven Constantino represented the employee (claimant).   Attorney Erin Egan represented the employer and insurer (employer).  The record closed after we met on December 2, 2008 for further deliberations.


ISSUES
1.  Whether the claimant is entitled to an award of past and continuing medical benefits, pursuant to AS 23.30.095.

2. Whether the claimant is entitled to an award of past and continuing temporary total disability (TTD) benefits, pursuant to AS 23.30.185.

3. Whether the claimant is entitled to an award of a penalty, pursuant to AS 23.30.155(e).

4. Whether the claimant is entitled to an award of interest on past, late benefits, pursuant to AS 23.30.155(p).

5. Whether the claimant is entitled to an award of reasonable attorney fees and legal costs pursuant to AS 23.30.145.


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE
I. MEDICAL AND FACTUAL HISTORY

The claimant testified his work injury occurred while he was working at the employer’s on September 26, 2007.
  He testified he was filling catsup containers at about eleven in the morning, a task which required him to stand right next to the walk-in cooler door, when the chef kicked the door open, striking him in the forehead.
  He testified he looked up, and it seemed to go dark for a minute.
  He also testified he was unsteady, and attempted to steady himself by leaning on a nearby table.
  The claimant testified there was blood running into his eye and swelling in the area, but he was able to complete his work day, albeit with difficulty.
  He testified he did not work the day after the injury, but did work Friday, September 28, 2007, when he struggled to do his job duties and had difficulty using the computer at work, upsetting the owner.
  He testified the owner had witnessed the incident on September 26, 2007, and the owner completed an incident report on Friday, September 28, 2007.
  

The claimant testified the pain continued to worsen, and he finally sought medical care Friday, September 28, 2007, at Providence Alaska Medical Center (PAMC).
  He was evaluated at PAMC emergency room (ER) by Eva Carey, M.D,
 who evaluated the claimant and assessed headache of unknown etiology.
  She referred him for a head CT, which was normal.
  The claimant was advised to see his physician in one week, but to return immediately if he had new or increasing symptoms or fevers.

On September 30, 2007, the claimant testified he was seen by Dennis Brinkerhoff, O.D., for a regular eye appointment.
  He further testified Dr. Brinkerhoff diagnosed Horner’s syndrome,
 suspected carotid
 dissection, and referred the claimant to neuro-opthalmologist Carl Rosen, M.D.

Due to his new onset Horner’s syndrome, an MRI of the brain was performed on the claimant on October 9, 2007, which showed one tiny focus of increased signal intensity in the periventricular white matter near the posterior horn of the left lateral ventricle, which radiologist David Moeller, M.D., opined might represent a tiny microvascular infarct.
  In addition, it was noted there was a low signal void missing in the internal carotid
 within the cavernous portion of the left internal carotid artery.
  At Dr. Moeller’s recommendation, an MRI scan was performed on the orbit, face and neck of the claimant.
  He noted there was lack of flow signal void in the left internal carotid.
  Dr. Moeller recommended an MRI angiogram.
 

On October 11, 2007, the claimant was evaluated by Dr. Rosen for his Horner’s syndrome in the left eye, which had begun after the work injury.
  Dr. Rosen noted the symptoms were constant and significant.  He also noted the claimant complained of a chronic headache behind his ear.
  Dr. Rosen referred the claimant to neurosurgeon Marshall Tolbert, M.D., for evaluation and to rule out dissection of the carotid artery.
  At Dr. Rosen’s request, an MRI angiogram of the head was performed on the claimant on October 11, 2007.
  This showed diminished flow in the left internal carotid artery, with a moderate to high-grade stenosis at the terminus.
  An MRI angiogram of the neck was also performed, which showed a long segment stenosis of the left internal carotid artery reaching approximately 75% below the skull base.

The claimant saw neurosurgeon Marshall Tolbert, M.D., for an evaluation on October 15, 2007.
  The claimant described his September 26, 2007 work injury, and stated although his left temple was numb initially, that had nearly resolved.
  He complained of progressively increasing headaches, particularly in the left frontal temporal region, extending down to the mastoid and upper neck on the left.
  Dr. Tolbert noted the CT scan performed the previous week at PAMC ER was unremarkable, but the MRI angiography performed on October 11, 2007 showed significant narrowing of the distal cervical left internal carotid artery, tapering from the distal cervical region to a near string sign, which extended several centimeters to the skull base.
  Dr. Tolbert diagnosed traumatic dissection of the left distal cervical internal carotid artery, with resulting Horner’s syndrome, but no evidence of transient ischemic attacks or strokes, and no abnormalities consistent with ischemia on the MRI scan.
  Dr. Tolbert recommended angioplasty and stent placement due to the near complete occlusion of the artery.
  

On October 18, 2007, Dr. Tolbert wrote a letter to the employer expressing his concern over a delay in treatment due to the employer’s desire to obtain a second opinion.
  Dr. Tolbert explained the claimant was at high risk for stroke until the dissection was treated, and urged the second opinion must be done very soon.
  Dr. Tolbert requested that the employer contact him to arrange for the transfer of the claimant’s care to another physician if the employer did not want to follow his recommendations.

Nevertheless, the employer’s medical evaluation (EME) evaluation was delayed until October 29, 2007, when the claimant was seen by board certified neurosurgeon Paul Williams, M.D.
  Dr. Williams reviewed the medical records and performed a history and physical examination on the claimant.
  Dr. Williams opined the September 26, 2007 work injury was the substantial cause of the claimant’s left Horner’s syndrome and stenosis of his left internal carotid artery.
  He further opined the appropriate treatment for the claimant’s condition was anticoagulation or angioplasty, and that he had not reached medical stability.
  Dr. Williams also opined the claimant should avoid extreme positioning of his neck over the next 6 months if he chose medical treatment or until after he had healed thoroughly if he chose surgical treatment.

On November 5, 2007, the claimant saw Dr. Tolbert, who diagnosed left cervical dissection and ocular sympathetic palsy, or partial Horner’s syndrome, due to the dissection.
  Dr. Tolbert opined that due to the significant extent of the dissection, the claimant would benefit from stenting of the dissected artery, and planned the procedure for that week.

The claimant was admitted to PAMC and underwent bilateral common and internal carotid artery angiograms, and a left vertebral artery angiogram on November 15, 2007.
  These tests demonstrated a dilation of the left internal carotid artery, consistent with a preexisting arterial dissection, but no significant stenosis or pseudoaneurysm, so that no interventional treatment was warranted.

On November 26, 2007, the claimant was seen for a follow up evaluation of his left carotid dissection by Dr. Tolbert.
  Dr. Tolbert diagnosed left-sided Horner’s syndrome secondary to the left internal carotid artery dissection and noted angiography demonstrated interval healing.
  He recommended follow-up with Dr. Rosen for repeat evaluation of the Horner’s syndrome.
  The claimant was evaluated by Dr. Rosen on December 6, 2007.
  Dr. Rosen opined the claimant’s Horner’s syndrome was still present, with no diplopia, but with lower intraocular pressure in the left eye and difficulty reading.  He also opined the claimant might require correction of Horner’s ptosis of the left upper eyelid.
  

The employer wrote a letter to Dr. Tolbert on January 10, 2008, with an accompanying job description of a server/waiter, which it claimed was the claimant’s job at the time of injury.
  In this letter, the employer asked Dr. Tolbert to offer his opinion on whether the claimant was able to return to his job at the time of injury, as well as whether he was medically stable.

On February 4, 2008, the claimant underwent a repeat neck MRI angiogram, which was suspicious for a focal left internal carotid artery dissection just below the skull base with 40-50% stenosis.
  An MRI of the brain performed the same day showed three punctate foci of increased FLAIR intensity in the left cerebral subcortical white matter, two in the frontal lobe and one in the parietal lobe.
  The radiologist interpreted these foci as likely representing foci of gliosis from remote brain insults or early chronic microvascular disease.
  There was also a tiny right mastoid effusion.
  On February 7, 2008, an MRI angiogram of the neck was performed, which showed the diffuse left internal carotid artery stenosis noted on the prior study had nearly resolved.
  Dr. Winn noted there was a residual minor smooth narrowing of the proximal cervical segment and a focal low-grade web-like stenosis at the skull base.

In response to the employer’s January 10, 2008 letter, on an undated note received by the employer on February 13, 2008, Dr. Tolbert noted the claimant was able to return to his job at the time of injury.
  This release to work was based on the job description of a waiter/waitress, formal, alternative title server, with a light strength requirement.
  However, on February 26, 2008, the employer emailed Dr. Tolbert, stating it enjoyed having the claimant as an employee, but it did not think it would be in his or the employer’s best interests for the claimant to return to work.  The employer opined that due to the claimant’s diminished depth perception, balance, and peripheral vision, the claimant, guests and coworkers would be at risk for further accidents.

The claimant was seen by Dr. Rosen, for evaluation of his Horner’s syndrome on March 3, 2008.
  Dr. Rosen noted the Horner’s syndrome was still present, and the claimant had difficulty reading, but no diplopia.
  He diagnosed convergence insufficiency or palsy in the left eye and noted the claimant needed an orthoptic evaluation.
  The orthoptic evaluation was performed by Diane Armitage, who diagnosed convergence insufficiency and left upper lid ptosis.
 

On March 19, 2008, Dr. Rosen predicted the claimant would have at least a 1% permanent partial impairment (PPI) as a result of his work injury.
  In addition, Dr. Rosen opined the claimant would not have the capacity to perform all the physical demands of his job at the time of injury.

There is a note in the claimant’s chart from Dr. Tolbert’s office indicating the claimant called regarding his work status.
  He was told he needed to obtain a work release from Dr. Rosen.
  It is also noted the employer was notified Dr. Tolbert was not the only doctor treating the claimant, and the employer needed to check with Dr. Rosen concerning work restrictions.

On April 14, 2008, the claimant saw Dr. Tolbert for follow up of his carotid dissection.
  The claimant reported the visual obscurations in the left visual field were improving, as was his left-sided headache, although he occasionally had sharp pain radiating from his left posterior cervical region over the left occipital region.
  He also reported problems seeing in dim light and trouble typing.
  The claimant complained of occasional left arm spasms and reported his job required him to lift heavy objects and carry cases of wine up and down stairs.
  Dr. Tolbert reviewed the February 7, 2008 MRI angiography and noted there was significant improvement in the left internal carotid artery stenosis, and a focal stenosis at the skull base.
  He opined the claimant’s dissection was almost completely resolved with a small focal stenotic region.
  He discontinued the high-dose aspirin, but continued the Plavix.  Dr. Tolbert recommended follow up in four months with repeat CT angiography.
  Dr. Tolbert opined that, from a neurosurgery standpoint, a review of the claimant’s work requirements did not reveal any activities he could not perform, although he would have to be very careful when carrying heavy objects or walking down stairs carrying boxes.  He referred the claimant for vocational evaluation.
  Dr. Tolbert opined the claimant had been disabled from work from February 14, 2008, and would be disabled until he completed his physical capacity examination (PCE).
  On April 17, 2008, Dr. Tolbert referred the claimant to Shawn Hadley, M.D., for evaluation and treatment for return to work status.

The claimant was seen by Robert Arnold, M.D., for follow up on his left Horner’s syndrome on April 29, 2008.
  Dr. Arnold found the claimant’s left Horner’s syndrome was still present, and the claimant reported difficulty reading.
  Dr. Arnold diagnosed convergence insufficiency or palsy, and recommended an orthoptic evaluation.

At the employer’s request, the claimant was seen again for an employer’s medical evaluation on April 30, 2008, by the neurosurgeon Dr. Williams.
  Dr. Williams reviewed the claimant’s medical history and performed a physical examination.
  He noted the claimant complained of mild decreased sensation on his forehead and aching in his left lateral dorsal neck at an intensity of 2 on a scale of 1 to 10, with 10 being the most severe pain imaginable.
  On physical examination, Dr. Williams noted a well-healed laceration on the claimant’s left forehead, slight decreased sensation in the left V1 distribution of the trigeminal nerve, a left pupil that was slightly smaller than the right one, and full extraocular movements, except for a slight convergence deficit.
  He concluded the physical examination was otherwise normal.
  Dr. Williams diagnosed the claimant with a dissection of the left internal carotid artery, resolving, a left Horner’s syndrome, with a smaller left eye pupil and very mild convergence deficit with minimal ptosis of the left eyelid.
  He opined the September 26, 2007 work injury was the substantial cause of the left internal carotid artery dissection and the left Horner’s syndrome.
  He further opined the claimant was medically stable, with no PPI.
  Dr. Williams opined the claimant was permanently restricted from lifting greater than 50 pounds occasionally, so that he could not return to his job at the time of injury if that job required more weight lifting.
  He stated the treatment rendered had been reasonable and necessary, but he did not recommend any further diagnostic tests or treatment.
 

The claimant was evaluated by board certified physical medicine and rehabilitation specialist Shawn Hadley, M.D., on June 19, 2008.
  The claimant complained of difficulty with his vision in low light conditions, constant headaches with pain at a 4 to 6 over 10, increasing to 8-9 over 10 at times.
  He also complained of numbness in the left frontal area of his forehead, and left shoulder and chest pain when using his elliptical trainer.
  The claimant also reported memory problems, including losing his keys and losing his way to the hospital.
  He complained of decreased dexterity in his left hand and decreased ability to type.
  Dr. Hadley opined there were preinjury issues impacting the claimant’s presentation.
  Dr. Hadley recommended cardiology and neuropsychological evaluations before proceeding with specific treatment recommendations.

On June 26, 2008, the claimant was evaluated by board certified cardiologist James Baldauf, M.D., who noted he had been referred for complaints of a continuous low substernal ache which waxed and waned in intensity, and included left arm discomfort when it became very severe.
  Dr. Baldauf found he had chest discomfort of uncertain etiology, with typical features, and an abnormal electrocardiogram.
  Dr. Baldauf ordered a chest CT, which showed tiny bilateral indeterminate pulmonary nodules.
  The chest CT was evaluated by John Finley, M.D., for coronary artery calcium scoring, and the score was 0, indicating no identifiable calcified plaque.

The claimant underwent a CT angiogram of the head and neck on July 28, 2008, at Dr. Tolbert’s request.
  Dr. Winn noted both internal carotid arteries were of normal caliber throughout, with no significant narrowing.

On August 4th and 5th, 2008, on referral from Dr. Hadley, the claimant underwent a neuropsychological evaluation by Paul Craig, Ph.D., a board certified clinical neuropsychologist.
  The claimant reported he “felt retarded” initially, but also felt his cognition had improved over time.
  He reported he had to relearn how to type and has to think things through much more carefully than was the case before he was injured.
  He also complained of being more forgetful than he was before the injury, but he had learned to write critical information down and keeps information well organized.
  The claimant stated his vision had deteriorated slightly, and that he saw double when looking at objects very closely.
  

The claimant underwent many tests during the neuropsychological evaluation.
  His level of effort was good, without evidence of malingering during testing.
  Intelligence testing showed him to be in the high-average range of intellectual ability, although speed of information-processing and speed of responding fell in the low-average to borderline range.
  Dr. Craig opined the claimant’s abilities were markedly decreased as a consequence of the neurological event due to the work injury, although many of his skills were spared.
  He further opined if the claimant was asked to process information very quickly and respond quickly, he might have difficulty doing so.
  Dr. Craig found the claimant’s visual problem of difficulty with convergence at very close range would not be debilitating for practical purposes.
  He found the motor speed and fine motor dexterity skills of the claimant, who is right-handed, were mildly diminished in the left hand.
  The claimant’s visual-motor coordination was found to be normal.
  His verbal fluency was found to be normal, and he was not found to have expressive or receptive aphasic disorder.
  However, his performance on a memory test which consisted of memorizing a list of 16 shopping items was 1.2 standard deviations below the mean.
  The claimant’s general memory index was at the 21st percentile compared with age-mates, and he had some auditory-verbal mnestic dysfunction on very lengthy and complex list-learning tasks, but his memory performance otherwise ranged from average to low-average.
  In the area of problem-solving and executive functions, the claimant demonstrated very significant limitation, which Dr. Craig opined was an indication he might have some residual higher cortical dysfunction associated with the carotid dissection.
  He also opined the claimant’s capacity to multitask might be somewhat limited, and he might have difficulty efficiently shifting among problem-solving strategies based upon changing circumstances.
  Dr. Craig opined the claimant’s flexibility of thinking is his primary area of limitation in problem-solving and executive function.
  In the area of academic functioning, Dr. Craig found no learning disability.
  In the area of emotional functioning, the claimant had some residual symptoms of anxiety, consistent with a history of having been treated for post-traumatic stress disorder.
  Dr. Craig’s diagnostic impression was the claimant had measurable evidence of mild disruption in higher cortical processes and he met the diagnostic criteria for cognitive disorder not otherwise specified.

Based on his evaluation, Dr. Craig recommended the claimant and those working with him should be apprised he shows evidence of some neurocognitive inefficiency, which was thought to be associated with the temporary disruption in cerebrovascular supply through the left carotid artery.
  Dr. Craig found the claimant’s speed of information-processing and speed of responding were significantly diminished; he had some limitations with regard to complex auditory-verbal learning, as well as on certain tasks requiring flexibility of thinking and related executive functions.
  He opined the scatter among his strengths and weaknesses suggest that these deficits are acquired rather than long-standing, and functionally significant.
  

Dr. Craig asserted the claimant would require cognitive rehabilitation and learning compensatory strategies to improve his condition, and he referred him to Anne Ver Hoef, M.A., C.C.C./S.L.P. for cognitive rehabilitation services.
  Dr. Craig opined training as a paralegal would be a realistic goal for the claimant.
  

On August 7, 2008, the claimant saw Dr. Rosen for follow-up of his Horner’s syndrome.
  He reported the symptoms were improving, although he felt his vision was not as good as it could be, and he had recently had difficulty passing the vision part of his driver’s test.

The claimant was seen for follow up by Dr. Tolbert on August 20, 2008, when he reported he felt better overall.
  He also reported his headaches had resolved, although he occasionally had mild pain radiating from the left retromastoid region to above his ear.
  Dr. Tolbert noted the CT angiogram performed in July, 2008, demonstrated complete healing of the left internal carotid artery dissection.
  He opined the carotid artery dissection resulted in a mild left Horner’s syndrome, and a mild left miosis and very mild ptosis remained.
  He also opined there were no physical restrictions from his point of view, but the claimant should avoid activities which place him at high risk for signficiant trauma of the head or neck, such as downhill skiing.
  Dr. Tolbert also opined the claimant should avoid chiropractic manipulation.
  On August 26, 2008, the claimant was evaluated by Dennis Brinkerhoff, O.D., who noted continued subtle ptosis of the left upper eyelid and subtle enophthalmos
 of the left eye as well.

Anne Ver Hoef, M.A., saw the claimant on September 8th and 12th, 2008 for a speech-language-cognitive evaluation.
  After two extensive interviews of cognitive language skills, Ms. Ver Hoef opined the claimant demonstrated impairments in cognitive-communicative skills, including word retrieval, other verbal memory skills, higher level concentration and language processing, verbal reasoning, and clarity and efficiency in language expression.
  Ms. Ver Hoef planned treatment one to two times per week for ten weeks, with long term goals of improving efficiency and efficacy in applying memory strategies, word retrieval, clarity of language expression, and language organization.
  Other goals were to improve attention-concentration and higher level language processing to improve ability to focus on relevant information, ignore distractions and multi-task again as appropriate for education pursuits and work and community activities, and also to improve flexibility of thinking and deductive logic to make well-informed decisions.

On September 24, 2008, Dr. Hadley reviewed Dr. Craig’s neuropsychological report, noting Dr. Craig concluded the claimant demonstrated objective evidence of mild cognitive impairment which would be amenable to working with a speech therapist for cognitive retraining.
  Dr. Hadley also noted the claimant had not reported to her his work injury to his back that had occurred just prior to his September 26, 2007.
  Dr. Hadley requested that Dr. Craig administer the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory (MMPI) to the claimant and referred the claimant to Ann Ver Hoef to address the functional cognitive issues.

Dr. Craig administered the MMPI-2 on October 1, 2008.
  Based on the MMPI-2, Dr. Craig concluded the claimant has very high standards for himself and may have difficulty accepting the changes he was experiencing as a result of his recent neurological and medical problems.
  He opined it would be important in working with him therapeutically in cognitive rehabilitation to establish realistic goals.
  He further opined if realistic goals were maintained, it would be possible for him to make significant progress in the context of rehabilitation.
  Dr. Craig discussed the MMPI-2 tests with the claimant on October 13, 2008, and noted he was receptive to the feedback presented.
  Dr. Craig explained to the claimant he might tend in some circumstances to pay closer attention to physical symptoms than might be the case in the general population.
  He also advised him Dr. Hadley would explain to him whether his goal of becoming a paralegal under the workers’ compensation reemployment plan was realistic.

On October 21, 2008, the claimant saw Dr. Hadley for follow up.
  Dr. Hadley noted the claimant had been evaluated by the cardiologist Dr. Baldauf and discharged with no requirement for further cardiac care.
  She also noted the claimant had been evaluated by Anne Ver Hoef and had seen her for six visits, and was already implementing some of the cognitive retraining strategies suggested by Ms. Ver Hoef.
  Dr. Hadley also noted Dr. Rosen had indicated the claimant could not return to his work at the time of injury, although she herself opined this issue would depend on how he progressed in his cognitive rehabilitation.
  She also noted the claimant had reported his work injury prior to the September 26, 2007 injury to Dr. Craig.

The October 29, 2008 progress summary written by Anne Ver Hoef, M.A., of the Anchorage Speech-Language-Cognitive Clinic indicated the claimant had participated in ten sessions of cognitive-language rehabilitation and was making good progress in applying memory and organizational strategies.
  The treatment plan submitted to Dr. Hadley indicated the claimant was undergoing therapy one to two times per week for eight weeks, starting on September 15, 2008.
  

II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The claimant completed a Report of Occupational Injury or Illness (ROI) on October 4, 2007, which was filed with the Board on October 11, 2007.
  He described the injury as a blow to the head from a walk-in door, when the chef opened the door, striking his head.
  The claimant filed a workers’ compensation claim (WCC) on February 27, 2008, claiming TTD from February 15, 2008 forward, PPI, reemployment eligibility evaluation, and a penalty. 
  The injury was described as head, neck, left internal carotid artery and left trigeminal nerve injury.
  The employer answered the WCC, admitting a claim for TTD from October 12, 2007 through February 13, 2008, but denying all other claims.
  The employer based its denial of TTD after February 13, 2008 on Dr. Tolbert’s work release.
  On March 13, 2008, the employer controverted TTD, as above, as well as PPI, reemployment benefits and the penalty.
  The employer maintained no PPI was due since the claimant was not medically stable, and no eligibility evaluation was warranted, as the claimant had been released to his regular work.
  The employer also asserted no penalty was due, since all benefits had been timely paid.
  At the April 9, 2008 Pre-Hearing Conference, the claimant amended his WCC to include medical and transportation costs, PPI when rated, interest, and attorney’s fees and costs.
  The nature of the injury was amended to include left carotid artery dissection, injury to the sympathetic nervous system, Horner’s Syndrome, and impaired cognitive function.
  The employer controverted medical benefits, time loss benefits, PPI and reemployment benefits on May 19, 2008, based on the April  30, 2008 EME report of Dr. Williams, who opined the claimant was medically stable with no permanent partial impairment and that further medical treatment was not indicated.
  The claimant filed his Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing (ARH) on June 18, 2008,
 which the employer opposed as discovery had not been completed.
  On July 16, 2008, a Pre-Hearing Conference was held, and a hearing date of November 18, 2008, was set to hear the claimant’s WCC.

III. DEPOSITION AND HEARING TESTIMONY

A.  Claimant’s Deposition and Hearing Testimony

The claimant testified by deposition on June 12, 2008 and at the hearing.  He testified he started work at employer’s right after Labor Day in 2007.  He testified he was hired as a server, and the duties of the job were to set up the brewing of the beverages, such as iced teas and coffees, which included placing large containers in the refrigerated units, preparing the bread, and stocking the dishes, and preparing the tables.
  The job also involved serving the guests, cleanup, bussing cleanup, polishing all the silverware and the glasses, and stocking supplies, which involved going downstairs into the basement and carrying boxes of server supplies and the linens upstairs.
  He testified he had to carry racks of 36-40 glasses, which weighed 35 to 45 pounds, and stack the racks overhead.

The claimant testified he was injured on September 26, 2007, when he was filling catsup containers at a bulk catsup dispenser mounting on the wall directly in front of the walk-in refrigerator.
  He testified he was bending down attempting to unclog the catsup dispenser when the chef, who had gone into the cooler previously, came out.
  Rather than knock and open the door slowly, as was the custom, he kicked the door of the cooler open, and it struck the claimant’s forehead.
  He testified his symptoms that day were bleeding, swelling and pain, and in addition, he could not really think clearly.  He testified he could not really remember the rest of the day.  The claimant testified he found someone else to work for him the next day, Thursday, September 27, 2008, but he did work Friday the 28th.  He testified he couldn’t work well and couldn’t use the computer.  He testified he got help from the manager to serve the guests, including the wine, as it was a struggle for him to open the wine bottles.  He further testified he could not remember the sequence of how to do things and could not remember orders.  The claimant testified he reported the injury to his manager on Friday, and also went to the emergency room at Providence Alaska Medical Center that evening, where a CT scan was done, which showed no evidence of a stroke.  

The claimant testified that on Sunday, September 30, 2007, he had a regular appointment with his eye doctor, Dennis Brinkerhoff, O.D.  He testified it was Dr. Brinkerhoff who diagnosed Horner’s syndrome and suspected carotid artery dissection, and referred him to Dr. Rosen, who in turn referred him to Dr. Tolbert.  He testified Dr. Tolbert recommended immediate surgery, but when the employer was notified of the need for immediate surgery, it said no, it wanted to first conduct an EME.  He testified the employer insisted on an EME although the earliest date available was October 29, 2007, and Dr. Tolbert informed the employer of the risks to him if the surgery was delayed.  

The claimant testified he continued to have symptoms after his November 15, 2007 surgery, including headaches and left arm and neck pain.  In addition, he testified his vision was not the same in both eyes, and the vision in his left eye was darker and less clear than the right.  He further testified he stopped driving at night due to the darker vision in the left eye.  The claimant testified his depth perception was decreased, so he had difficulty with going up and down stairs.  He also testified he was mentally slow and his memory was poor.  The claimant testified he starting using memory aids such as notes and a Dictaphone to help him remember things.

The claimant testified he was aware the employer had submitted a job description to Dr. Tolbert, but he was not asked to approve the job description beforehand.  He testified his job at employer’s was that of a server and a busser, as the servers at employer’s also performed bussing duties.
  The claimant also testified the employer told him Dr. Tolbert had released him to work, so he contacted the manager at his place of work, but the manager refused to let him come back to work, saying he would be putting himself, guests, and coworkers at risk for an accident.  He testified he reviewed the job description and the work release with the manager, and the manager showed him why the demands of the job would prevent the claimant from returning to work at employer’s.  In addition, he testified the manager indicated to him the job description of server was not an accurate job description for the claimant’s job at employer’s.  The claimant also testified he showed the work release to another previous employer, also a restaurant, who said it would be inappropriate for him to return there to work.
  He testified he requested the manager at employer’s contact the employer’s adjustor to inform the adjustor of the concerns the manager had about the claimant’s return to work, which the manager did in a February 26, 2008 email to Dr. Tolbert.
  The claimant testified the manager’s concerns as expressed in this email included the following comment:  “Most poignantly, the diminished depth perception, balance, and peripheral vision leave Michael, our guests, and his coworkers at risk for further accidents.”
  

The claimant testified after the employer controverted his TTD based on Dr. Tolbert’s work release, he was without income except for a small stipend..  He testified he applied for unemployment and received unemployment until his §.041(k) benefits were paid in late July, 2008.  He testified he is currently paying back his unemployment, and he has an agreement to make monthly payments.

The claimant testified he met with Dr. Tolbert in late April, 2008, and at that time discussed his work release with Dr. Tolbert.  In addition, he testified he had talked with Dr. Tolbert’s office personnel concerning his overall work release prior to his April appointment.  He testified based on his conversations with Dr. Tolbert’s office, Dr. Tolbert’s office opined Dr. Rosen was the appropriate person to contact concerning a work release and work restrictions.  The claimant further testified he took with him to Dr. Tolbert’s office a job description for his job at the time of injury which came from the board-assigned rehabilitation specialist, and which combined the job descriptions for server and busser as the appropriate job description for the claimant’s job at the time of the injury.  The claimant testified Dr. Tolbert declined to approve or disapprove the job description and deferred to Dr. Hadley.  The claimant testified Dr. Tolbert gave him a work release stating he was disabled from work from February 14, 2008 until after a PCE is completed.  He testified he has still not had a PCE.  He further testified one of the office personnel made a mistake filling out the form initially, but corrected the start of disability date to February 14, 2008 from April 14, 2008.
  The claimant testified it was suggested he had forged the correction, so he asked Dr. Tolbert to fill out another form, which Dr. Tolbert did, and that “clean” form without corrections was submitted to the employer.

The claimant testified after his second EME with Dr. Williams on April 30, 2008, the employer controverted his medication Plavix and also his care with Dr. Tolbert.  He testified he was unable to take his medication from April, 2008 until he received his 0.41(k) benefits in late July, 2008.  He testified the Plavix had helped the chest pain he complained of when he saw Dr. Hadley.

The claimant testified Dr. Craig has told him he could not expect a complete recovery from his work injury.  He testified the treatment he has received from Ms. Ver Hoef has assisted him.  He also testified he pursued some rehabilitation strategies on his own, such as retraining himself to type, although he still cannot type as well as he used to.  The claimant testified he continues to have physical symptoms from his work injury, such as headaches, and numbness on the left side of his face and head, although these symptoms have decreased in intensity.  He testified the pain over his ear and temple and at the base of his skull has decreased.  He testified the vision in his left eye is better, and the right and left fields of vision have improved due to his eye exercises, and his depth perception has also improved.  He testified he still has trouble driving at night.  Concerning his cognitive function, the claimant testified the treatment he is receiving from Ms. Ver Hoef is helping him to develop strategies help with his short and long term memory.  He further testified the therapy is helping him with his speaking, as he has trouble finding words, a problem he did not have before the September 2, 2008 work injury.  The claimant testified he has trouble multitasking, and he does not attempt to multitask currently to avoid becoming overwhelmed.  He testified if there is too much going on, or it is not a quiet, well-controlled environment, he struggles to function.  He further testified the environments where he has worked in the restaurant business are not quiet and controlled.  He testified the server/busser jobs he has held require multitasking, good short term memory, and competing demands from guests, coworkers, the kitchen, and others.

The claimant testified about 80% of the income from the server/busser job he held at the time of his injury came from tips.  He further testified if the guests were unhappy with the service, they would leave less in tips.

Concerning future medical treatment in addition to follow-up with Dr. Tolbert, to include follow-up imaging studies, and therapy with the medication Plavix, the claimant testified Dr. Rosen has suggested that he may perform two procedures.  He testified one procedure is to correct his left eyelid muscle dysfunction, and the other is to realign the orbital socket with tissue to replace the tissue that was lost, due to the surgical procedure.  He testified neither of these procedures is currently scheduled, as he wanted to wait for one year to 18 months.

B. Dr. Williams Hearing Testimony

Dr. Williams testified he is board certified in neurosurgery and practiced from 1978 to 1998.  He testified all of his current income came from performing independent medical evaluations, and the majority of his clients were insurance companies.  He testified he was licensed to practice in Alaska, and he had been issued a new license within the past month, although the claimant’s attorney maintained his license had expired in 2003.  Nevertheless, the claimant’s attorney did not challenge Dr. Williams’ qualification as an expert, and he was qualified as an expert.  Dr. Williams testified he had performed an evaluation on the claimant in October, 2007.  He testified he reviewed the MRI’s and MRI angiograms performed in October, 2007, which showed a stenosed left internal carotid artery.  He further testified the work injury was the cause of the left internal carotid artery dissection and Horner’s syndrome.  He testified surgery was a reasonable treatment for the claimant’s condition, as was the medication Plavix.  

Dr. Williams testified he again evaluated the claimant on April 30, 2008.  He testified the claimant demonstrated decreased sensation in his left forehead and temporal region and continued Horner’s syndrome.  He testified he reviewed the reports of imaging studies, which showed the dissection had resolved, or markedly improved.  He testified his opinion was that continued conservative management was indicated, although he also testified if the claimant’s physicians recommended continued therapy with the medication Plavix, he would not object.  Dr. Williams testified the second EME on April 30, 2008 was a year after the surgery or the injury.  He testified his opinion was the claimant was medically stable at the time of the April 30, 2008 exam, and he had not assessed any PPI.  He further testified the claimant’s Horner’s syndrome had not resolved and may be permanent, and he was not sure whether there was a PPI rating for Horner’s syndrome.  Dr. Williams further testified that at the time of the April 30, 2008 EME, his opinion was the claimant could return to his job at the time of injury.  Dr. Williams testified he had not reviewed the July 28, 2008 CT angiogram report, or the August, 2008 neuropsychiatric evaluation performed by Dr. Craig.

Dr. Williams testified he did not have any of the actual imaging studies to review, but he had reviewed the February 4, 2008 brain MRI report, and stated in his April 30, 2008 EME report that this MRI report showed no acute intracranial abnormalities.  He also testified if a radiologist interpreted the MRI report to show three punctuate foci of increased FLAIR intensity in the left cerebral subcortical white matter, two in the frontal lobe and one in the parietal lobe, likely representing foci of gliosis from remote brain insults or early chronic microvascular disease, that the MRI showed abnormalities, although not acute abnormalities.  He testified he did not agree the abnormalities shown on the February 4, 2008 brain MRI were consistent with the claimant’s neurocognitive deficits, as there were plenty of people who were walking around with those kinds of abnormalities who had no deficits in their cognition.  Dr. Williams testified the February 4, 2008 MRI angiogram, which is the latest imaging study report he had to review on April 30, 2008, showed a 40-50% stenosis, which is not normal for the claimant.  Dr. Williams testified he disagreed with Dr. Tolbert’s opinion the claimant was at higher risk for stroke due to the carotid artery dissection, as he had blood supply to the brain from other vessels, namely, the Circle of Willis.  Dr. Williams did testify there is a risk from stroke from a carotid artery dissection if there is no other competent blood supply.  Dr. Williams testified he did not think it would be unreasonable for the employee to continue to be monitored and be treated with the medication Plavix after April 30, 2008.  He also testified such treatment would be within generally accepted medical practice.

Dr. Williams testified he did not dispute that as of October, 2007, the claimant had an 80% stenosis of his left internal carotid artery, and that on February 4, 2008, an imaging study demonstrated the stenosis was at 50%.  He further testified the claimant expressed to him at the April 30, 2008 EME that he was having some cognitive difficulties, but this was not included in the EME report.  He also testified he could not recall if the claimant had expressed other complaints which were not included in his report.  Dr. Williams testified one could not rely on his EME report for everything.

Dr. Williams further testified he is not a neuro-opthalmologist and could not rule out the claimant might have a PPI based on his Horner’s syndrome.  Dr. Williams also testified he could not rule out the claimant may have neurocognitive deficits, but if he did have them, he could not offer an opinion as to the cause of those neurocognitive deficits.  Specifically, he testified without a prior neurocognitive evaluation which was normal, he could not say the work injury was the cause of the abnormalities in the claimant’s current neurocognitive deficits.

IV.  ARGUMENTS OF THE PARTIES

A. Claimant

The claimant argued he is entitled to past and continuing medical benefits, as there is no dispute he suffered a left internal carotid artery dissection and Horner’s syndrome as a result of his work injury and therefore has the benefit of the presumption under AS 23.30.120(a).  The claimant further argues under the Alaska Supreme Court case Weidner & Assoc. v. Hibdon (Hibdon),
 the employer has a heavy burden to controvert medical benefits during the first two years after an injury, as the employer must demonstrate the treatment is neither reasonable or necessary, nor within the realm of acceptable medical opinion under the facts.
  The claimant maintained the opinion of EME physician Williams, which merely stated further medical treatment after April 30, 2008 was not “indicated” did not meet the Hibdon
 test.
  Further, the claimant contends, the employer relied on Dr. Williams EME report to controvert the claimant’s medication Plavix, and Dr. Rosen’s bills, although treatment for Horner’s syndrome was never mentioned in Dr. Williams report.
  In addition, the claimant maintains the employer relied on Dr. Williams report to controvert treatment and evaluation for cognitive damage, although cognitive deficits were not mentioned in his report and not medically documented until months after Dr. Williams April 30, 2008 EME report.
  

The claimant submitted Exhibit 15 to his Hearing Brief documenting $7,507.18 in unpaid medical bills.

The claimant asserted he was entitled to past and continuing TTD from February 13, 2008, as Dr.  Tolbert’s February 13, 2008 statement the claimant could return to work was based on an incorrect job description for the light duty job of server, and not combined with the job description for the heavier duty busser job to accurately describe the claimant’s job at the time of injury.
  The claimant further maintains any reliance the employer placed on Dr. Tolbert’s February 13, 2008 work release was not valid for an additional reason, that is, in April, Dr. Tolbert issued a work restriction from February 14, 2008 to receipt of a physical capacity evaluation (PCE).
  Since a PCE has yet to be performed, the claimant is not medically stable, and Dr. Hadley reported she will not address the claimant’s return to work until he has completed his ongoing cognitive rehabilitation treatment, the claimant argues he is entitled to ongoing TTD.

The claimant also asserts he is entitled to an award of penalties under AS 23.30.155(e) on the unpaid TTD, as the employer’s controversion of the TTD was not based on substantial evidence.
  Further, the claimant maintains he is entitled to §.041(k) benefits from February 14, 2008, the day after the employer controverted TTD, as under AS 23.30.041(c), he was entitled to a reemployment eligibility evaluation on the 91st day of continuous disability.
  The claimant maintains the employer did not pay him any benefits between February 14, 2008 and July 29, 2008, when it made retroactive payment of past §.041(k) benefits, when under the Alaska Supreme Court case, Carter v. B&B Construction, Inc. (“Carter”),
 it had a duty to pay those benefits when an employee enters the reemployment process.
  The claimant also argued he was entitled to interest on any late benefits.

On closing, the claimant maintained this is a case about medical benefits.  He argued the testimony of Dr. Williams that it was not unreasonable for Dr. Tolbert to continue to treat the claimant with Plavix and follow-up evaluations and imaging studies do not rebut the presumption the claimant is entitled to those medical benefits.  In addition, the claimant argued Dr. Williams did not address the treatment by Dr. Rosen, which is outside his specialty, and also did not address the cognitive impairment, although he knew about it.  The claimant argued it will never be known whether the cognitive impairment diagnosed by Dr. Craig could have been avoided if he had prompt treatment of the carotid artery dissection.  The claimant asserted the importance of the hearing was primarily for continuing medical treatment.  He maintained Dr. Tolbert had opined he was at greater risk for a stroke due to his carotid artery dissection, until that dissection was completely healed.

The claimant also asserted the employer has not rebutted the presumption of his continuing entitlement to TTD, as once Dr. Tolbert prepared the April 14, 2008 work release taking him off work  to correct his prior ambiguous statement, he was entitled to TTD.  He argued once Dr. Tolbert produced the work release dated April 14, 2008, the employer could no longer reasonably rely on Dr. Tolbert’s prior statement.  The claimant also argued there is no reliable evidence he has ever reached medical stability, as Dr. Williams April 30, 2008 EME report did not even address the employee’s neurocognitive deficits.  In addition, the claimant argued, he was cut off from vital medication for months due to the employer’s controversion of benefits.  Therefore, the claimant argued he is entitled to continuing TTD and a penalty on the TTD, whereas the employer is entitled to a refund of the §.041(k) benefits paid.  

In addition to TTD, the claimant requested the Board order the employer to pay the other benefits he had requested, consisting of  payment of all past medical bills for evaluation and treatment of his work injury, including carotid artery dissection, Horner’s syndrome, and his neuropsychological impairment, including the neurocognitive evaluation and treatment, and the cardiology evaluation for chest pain.  The claimant asserted if the Board found he was not entitled to TTD for the entire period from February 14, 2008 to the present, he then requested that the Board order 0.41(k) from February 14, 2008 and continuing, with a credit for what had already been paid.

The claimant argued the health care providers should be awarded penalties on the late paid medical benefits, if they request a penalty award.  The claimant argued Dr. Williams’ April 30, 2008 report and hearing testimony does not support a controversion, as he testified follow-up care for the claimant’s carotid artery dissection and Horner’s syndrome was not unreasonable.  The claimant also argued the employer’s request for an second independent medical evaluation (SIME) was way too late, and must be addressed in the proper manner on a petition for an SIME.

B.  Employer

The employer maintained it had paid all medical benefits related to the work injury, and no further medical treatment is reasonable or necessary in relation to the work injury, as imaging studies have documented the right (sic) carotid artery dissection has healed and according to the opinion of Dr. Williams, no further medical treatment is necessary.
 The employer asserted after the PCE and other additional evaluations had been completed, an SIME would be necessary to determine the claimant’s entitlement to further workers’ compensation benefits.
  The employer further argued it had paid time loss benefits as required, and it properly relied on Dr. Tolbert’s release of the claimant to work on February 14, 2008 and Dr. Williams’ opinion the claimant was medically stable as of April 30, 2008.
  The employer also claimed it relied on comments made by Dr. Tolbert in his medical reports of January 19th, February 19th, April 18th,, August 20th, and June 19th, 2008, in which he said the claimant’s restrictions were no ATV riding and no chiropractic manipulation, to controvert TTD benefits.  In addition, the employer contended no PPI benefits were due to the claimant, as the only PPI rating performed was Dr. Williams’ April 30, 2008 rating of 0% PPI.

The employer relies on Dr. Tolbert’s February 13, 2008, release of the claimant to work at his job at the time of injury, with his only restrictions being no ATV riding and no chiropractic manipulations, to claim the claimant is not entitled to reemployment benefits.

On closing, the employer argued the Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles (SCODDOT), for both the server and busser job descriptions did not list depth perception, balance or peripheral vision as being required for the job.  The employer asserted it did pay §.041(k) benefits from February 14, 2008 forward, based on the decision in Carter, which stated §.041(k) benefits are not due until the employee is actively participating in the rehabilitation process, and it was February 27, 2008 that he requested an eligibility evaluation.  The employer also asserted it had agreed to pay for the evaluations involved in the reemployement process, including the consultation with Dr. Hadley, the evaluation with the cardiologist, and the neurocognitive testing with Dr. Craig.

The employer argued Dr. Williams’ testimony did rebut the presumption of compensability for the disputed benefits.  The employer maintained Dr. Williams’ testimony might create a medical dispute so that an SIME might be necessary.  The employer argued it had properly controverted TTD benefits based on Dr. Tolbert’s opinion, so that no penalty was due.

V.  ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS

The claimant’s attorney submitted an Affidavit of Attorney Fees and Costs on November 12, 2008, for 49.9 attorney hours at $325.00 per hour for a total of $16,217.50.
  In addition, there were 27.6 paralegal hours at $125.00 per hour, for a total of $3,450.00.
  Thus the total fees were $19,667.50, for the period from March 26, 2008 through November 12, 2008.
  The total costs for copies, telephone calls, postage, and copies of medical records was $177.52.
  Thus total fees and costs pursuant to the November 12, 2008 Affidavit of Attorney Fees and Costs was $19,845.02.
  

The claimant’s attorney submitted a supplemental affidavit of fees at hearing on November 18, 2008, for the period from November 12, 2008 through November 17, 2008.
  The total attorney hours was 4.2 hours at $325.00 per hour, and the total paralegal hours was 0.8 hours at $125.00 per hour, so the total fees per the November 18, 2008 supplemental affidavit was $1,465.00.
 

At the November 18, 2008 hearing, the claimant’s attorney claimed an additional 4.00 hours for the hearing on November 18, 2008, at the same hourly rate, for a total of $1,300.00 in attorney fees.
  Thus, the total claimant’s attorney fees and costs was $22,610.02.


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I.  PRESUMPTION ANALYSIS

AS 23.30.095(a) provided, in part, at the time of the claimant’s injury:

(a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee.  However, if the condition requiring treatment, apparatus or medicine is a latent one, the two-year period runs from the time the employee has knowledge of the nature of the employee’s disability and its relationship to the employment and after disablement.  It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.  The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require….

The injured worker is afforded a presumption that all the benefits he seeks are compensable.
  The Alaska Supreme Court held "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."
  AS 23.30.120(a) reads, in part:  "In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter. . . ."  We utilize a three-step analysis when applying the presumption of compensability.
  

The presumption attaches if the employee makes a minimal showing of a preliminary link between the claimed treatment or disability benefit and employment.
  This presumption continues during the course of recovery from the injury and disability.
  Also, a substantial aggravation of an otherwise unrelated condition imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability.
  To make a prima facie case, raising the presumption of compensability, the employee must present some evidence that (1) he has an injury and (2) an employment event or exposure could have caused it.  "[I]n claims 'based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection."
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  Also, a substantial aggravation of an otherwise unrelated condition, imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability.
  

At this stage in our analysis we do not weigh the witnesses’ credibility.
  If we find such relevant evidence at this threshold step, the presumption attaches to the claim.  If the presumption is raised and not rebutted, the employee need not produce any further evidence and he prevails solely on the raised but un-rebutted presumption.
  Second, once the preliminary link is established, it is the employer's burden to overcome the presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence that the injury was not work related.
  To overcome the presumption of compensability, the employer must present substantial evidence that the injury was not work-related.
  Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production to the employer, and not the burden of proof, the Board examines the employer’s evidence in isolation.

There are two possible ways for an employer to overcome the presumption: (1) produce substantial evidence that provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or (2) directly eliminate any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability.
  The Board defers questions of credibility and the weight to give the employer's evidence until after it has decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee's injury entitles him to compensation benefits.
  "Substantial evidence" is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
  

Once the employer produces substantial rebuttal evidence, at the third stage of the analysis, the presumption of continuing compensability for the claimed benefits drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of the case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  "Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [triers of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true."
  A longstanding principle we must include in our analysis is that inconclusive or doubtful medical testimony must be resolved in the employee's favor.
  Also, in 2005, the Alaska State Legislature adopted AS 23.30.010(a), which provides the following, in part:
A presumption may be rebutted by a demonstration of substantial evidence that the death or disability or the need for medical treatment did not arise out of and in the course of the employment. When determining whether or not the death or disability or need for medical treatment arose out of the employment, the board must evaluate the relative contribution of different causes of the disability or death or the need for medical treatment.  Compensation or benefits under this chapter are payable for the disability or death or the need for medical treatment if, in relation to other causes, the employment is the substantial cause of the disability or death or need for medical treatment.

The Alaska Supreme Court decades ago defined the quantum of “substantial” in its decision Kessick v. Alyeska Pipeline Serv. Co.,
  in the context of workers’ compensation as such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind would accept in light of all the evidence to support a conclusion.

In the instant matter, the employer argues the claimant suffered only an aggravation of his preexisting condition, but his injury was not the substantial cause of his disability or need for surgery. In analyzing the claimant’s claim and addressing the employer’s defense, we must determine if the employee’s work was the substantial cause of the claimant’s disability or need for medical treatment.  

In Iversen v. Terrasond, Ltd. (“Iversen”),
 the Board declined to adopt an interpretation of “the substantial cause” which would impute to the Alaska Legislature an intent to have the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act deprive tort recovery to injured workers, and allow no other remedy for injury in a potentially significant swath of cases.

In lieu of that, the Board interpreted “the substantial cause” of AS 23.30.010 in light of the long line of Alaska Supreme Court cases interpreting “substantial” to mean a quantum of evidence a reasonable person could believe sufficient to assign responsibility for causation.  In line with the Board’s decision in Iversen, we interpret “the” in the language of AS 23.30.010, in relation to other substantial causes, determining if the employment injury is the substantial cause which brings about the disability or death or need for medical treatment.

We shall apply the above described presumption analysis to the issues in this case; the medical benefits and TTD.

II.  MEDICAL BENEFITS

AS 23.30.095(a) provides, in part:

The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance of treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires….

8 AAC 45.082(d) provides in pertinent part:

Unless the employer disputes the prescription charges or transportation expenses, an employer shall reimburse an employee's prescription charges or transportation expenses for medical treatment within 30 days after the employer receives … an itemization of the dates of travel and transportation expenses for each date of travel.”

The presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120(a) also applies to claims for medical benefits.
 Treatment must be reasonable and necessary to be payable under § 95(a).
  At the first stage of the presumption analysis, we find, based on the testimony of the claimant and the medical reports and testimony of doctors Rosen, Tolbert, Hadley, and Craig, and Ms. Ver Hoef, the record contains sufficient evidence to raise the presumption of compensability for the medical benefits claimed by the claimant.

At the second stage of the presumption analysis, the employer argues the EME reports and testimony of EME physician Williams, rebut the presumption of compensability for the claimant’s requested medical benefits.  Dr. Williams opined in his April 30, 2008 EME report the claimant was medically stable, with no PPI, and further treatment was not indicated.  However, at hearing Dr. Williams testified he thought the claimant’s surgery and/or injury had occurred one year prior to the time his April 30, 2008 EME was performed.  In addition, Dr. Williams testified although he himself would not have treated the claimant after April 30, 2008, he did not object to the treatment recommended by the treating physician, Dr. Tolbert.  Dr. Williams did not opine the medical treatment proposed by Dr. Tolbert was not reasonable or necessary, nor outside generally accepted medical practice, as required to controvert medical treatment during the first two years after an injury, under Hibdon.
  Based on Dr. Williams’ testimony that he was mistaken in the length of time from the injury and/or surgery to the April 30, 2008 EME and his testimony that he did not find the treatment recommended by Dr. Tolbert unreasonable or unnecessary, or outside the generally accepted medical practice, we find Dr. Williams opinion is not substantial evidence to rebut the presumption.  In addition, we find, based on the fact Dr. Williams’ EME report did not discuss treatment for the claimant’s Horner’s syndrome or cognitive dysfunction, the employer provided no evidence to rebut the presumption the claimant is entitled to the treatment recommended by his physicians Dr. Rosen and Dr. Hadley and Ms. Ver Hoef for those conditions.  We find the employer has not provided substantial evidence, based on Dr. Williams’ reports and testimony, to rebut the presumption.

Even though we find the employer has not rebutted the presumption, we also find the claimant has proven by a preponderance of the evidence he is entitled to the disputed medical benefits at the third state of the presumption analysis, based on the record as a whole, and specifically the medical reports of doctors Tolbert, Rosen, Hadley and Craig, as well as the reports of Ms. Ver Hoef.  We find the medical reports and opinions of these physicians and Ms. Ver Hoef credible, based on their expertise and experience, as well as their familiarity with the claimant’s condition over time.
  Our findings are supported by the following analysis:

A.  Carotid Artery Dissection

Dr. Tolbert opined ongoing medical treatment, to include follow-up visits, the medication Plavix, and follow-up imaging studies, are necessary for the treatment of the claimant’s carotid artery dissection.  Dr. Williams opined in his April 30, 2008 EME report that further treatment for the carotid artery dissection was not indicated.  However, in his hearing testimony, Dr. Williams testified what he meant was that he would not treat the claimant if he were the claimant’s doctor.  He testified he did not think it would be unreasonable for the claimant to continue to be monitored and to be treated with the medication Plavix after April 30, 2008, and it would be within generally accepted medical practice.  Based on Dr. Tolbert’s recommendations concerning the ongoing treatment for the claimant’s carotid artery dissection, and Dr. Williams’ agreement with those recommendations, we find the claimant is entitled to past and ongoing medical treatment for his carotid artery dissection as recommended by Dr. Tolbert.

B.  Horner’s Syndrome

Dr. Rosen recommends necessary follow-up care for the claimant’s Horner’s syndrome, in addition to follow-up appointments to monitor his condition, may include left eyelid muscle repair and realignment of the left orbital socket.  The employer provided no evidence to rebut the presumption, and Dr. Williams testified the claimant may have a PPI because of his Horner’s syndrome.  Dr. Rosen opined the claimant will have at least a 1% PPI due to his Horner’s syndrome.  We find, based on Dr. Rosen’s opinion and recommendations, as well as the opinion of Dr. Williams, the claimant is entitled to the past and ongoing treatment recommended by Dr. Rosen.

C.  Cognitive Deficits

Dr. Hadley and Dr. Craig both opined the claimant requires the ongoing cognitive rehabilitation being conducted by Ms. Ver Hoef, and Ms. Ver Hoef’s reports document the rehabilitation program the claimant is undergoing, as well as his progress in that program.  Concerning the cause of the claimant’s cognitive deficits, Dr. Tolbert opined the claimant might well suffer a stroke or other brain damage as a result of the carotid dissection, particularly if treatment was delayed.  

We find the claimant credible.
  We find his testimony and demeanor at hearing were honest and forthright.  In addition, we note Dr. Craig remarked that the claimant showed no evidence of malingering on the tests he administered to the claimant.  

The claimant’s testimony proves the cognitive deficits developed only after the September 26, 2007 work injury.  Also, the February 4 2008 brain MRI demonstrated lesions in the brain that were not there in the October and November 2007 imaging studies.  In addition, Dr. Craig opined the cognitive deficits suffered by the claimant were of recent onset.  We find, based on the opinions of Dr. Tolbert and Dr. Craig and the claimant’s testimony, the work injury is the substantial cause of the claimant’s cognitive deficits.  Dr. Craig and Dr. Hadley recommended the claimant required cognitive rehabilitation therapy for his cognitive deficits, and Mr. Ver Hoef’s reports prove he requires that therapy and is participating and progressing in that therapy. We find, based on the medical reports of doctors Craig and Hadley, as well as the reports of Ms. Ver Hoef, the claimant is entitled to the past and ongoing medical treatment for his cognitive therapy that is recommended by them.

We shall order the employer to pay past medical benefits, to include the unpaid medical bills pursuant to the claimant’s hearing brief, exhibit 15, and ongoing medical benefits for the treatment recommended by Dr. Tolbert for the claimant’s left carotid dissection, for the treatment recommended by Dr. Rosen for his Horner’s syndrome, and for the treatment recommended by Dr. Hadley, Dr. Craig, and Ms. Ver Hoef for his cognitive deficits.

III. TTD BENEFITS

The claimant requests TTD benefits for his work injuries, from February 14, 2008 and ongoing. At the time of the employee's injury, the Alaska Workers' Compensation Act defined "disability" as "incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment."
  The Act provided for benefits at 80% of the employee's spendable weekly wage while the disability is "total in character but temporary in quality,"
 but did not define TTD.  

Nevertheless, the Alaska courts long ago defined TTD for its application in our cases.   In Phillips Petroleum Co. v. Alaska Industrial Board,(“Phillips Petroleum”)
 the Alaska territorial court defined TTD as "the healing period or the time during which the workman is wholly disabled and unable by reason of his injury to work."  The court explained:

A claimant is entitled to compensation for temporary total disability during the period of convalescence and during which time the claimant is unable to work, and the employer remains liable for total compensation until such time as the claimant is restored to the condition so far as his injury will permit.  The test is whether the claimant remains incapacitated to do work by reason of his injury, regardless of whether the injury at some time can be diagnosed as a permanent partial disability.

In Vetter v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board,
 the Alaska Supreme Court stated:

The concept of disability compensation rests on the premise that the primary consideration is not medical impairment as such, but rather loss of earning capacity related to that impairment.  An award for compensation must be supported by a finding that the claimant suffered a compensable disability, or more precisely, a decrease in earning capacity due to a work-connected injury or illness.

As noted above, the presumption of compensability is applicable “to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."
  The presumption attaches if the employee makes a minimal showing of a preliminary link between the disability and employment.
  

Pursuant to the Alaska Supreme Court’s decision in Phillips Petroleum, “the employer remains liable for total compensation until such time as the claimant is restored to the condition so far as his injury will permit.”
  Medical stability was defined at the time of the employee’s injury as follows:

“medical stability” means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days; this presumption may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence….

We find the time the claimant is restored to the condition so far as his injury will permit is equivalent to the definition of medical stability in AS 23.30.395(27).  Therefore, we find the employer is liable for TTD benefits while the claimant was not medically stable.

In the instant case, the claimant requests TTD benefits for the period from February 14, 2008 and ongoing. Applying the presumption analysis to the claimant’s request for TTD benefits, we find the claimant has raised the presumption of compensability based on the medical reports and testimony of doctors Rosen, Tolbert, Hadley, and Craig, the medical records, and the claimant’s own testimony.

At the second stage of the presumption analysis, the employer argues it has rebutted the presumption through the testimony of EME physician Williams, who opined in his April 30, 2008 report the claimant was medically stable without any PPI, and could return to his job at the time of his injury, as long as he was not required to lift more than 50 pounds on an occasional basis.  However, Dr. Williams’ EME report did not even address the claimant’s Horner’s syndrome, and Dr. Williams testified at hearing the claimant might have a PPI rating due to his Horner’s syndrome.  In addition, Dr. Williams’ testimony at hearing demonstrated he had the mistaken impression his April 30, 2008 EME was conducted a year after the injury and/or surgery, whereas it was conducted seven months after the injury and six months after the surgery.  Dr. Williams’ testimony also showed he was aware the February 4, 2008 MRI angiogram revealed the carotid artery dissection was not resolved and a 40 to 50% stenosis remained.  Finally, Dr. Williams’ testimony proved he was aware of the claimant’s cognitive deficit, but he did not address that problem in his EME report.  Because of the errors and omissions in Dr. Williams’ April 30, 2008 EME report, we do not rely on Dr. Williams’ opinion the claimant was medically stable and could return to his employment at the time of injury as of April 30, 2008.  The employer also argued it rebutted the presumption based on Dr. Tolbert’s statement the employer received on February 13, 2008, in which Dr. Tolbert stated the claimant could return to his job at the time of the injury.  However, Dr. Tolbert corrected his February 13, 2008, when his office personnel informed the employer it should contact the claimant’s other treating physicians concerning when the claimant could return to work, and on April 14, 2008, when he stated the claimant was disabled from February 14, 2008 until after he completed a PCE.  Because we find Dr. Williams’ opinions concerning the claimant’ medical stability and ability to return to his employment at the time of injury unreliable, and because Dr. Tolbert amended his original, February 13, 2008 statement, both on March 24, 2008 and on April 14, 2008 to state the claimant was disabled from February 14, 2008 until after his PCE is conducted, we find the employer has not provided substantial evidence rebutting the presumption 

However, even if we did find the employer rebutted the presumption, we still find the claimant has proven by a preponderance of the evidence he was not medically stable at the time of the hearing, and was temporarily and totally disabled from February 14, 2008 and ongoing, and the work injury was the substantial cause for his TTD.  We find, based on the following, the claimant is entitled to TTD from February 14, 2008 and ongoing:

We find Dr. Tolbert credible,
 based on his expertise as a neurosurgeon and familiarity with the claimant’s condition over many months.  The record shows Dr. Tolbert released the claimant to work from a neurosurgery standpoint on his February 13, 2008 statement, although that job description was based on a description of the claimant’s job as that of a server, a light duty job, whereas the claimant’s actual job at the time of injury was the job of a server/busser, a job requiring medium strength.  On March 24, 2008, Dr. Tolbert, through his office personnel, told both the claimant and the employer it was necessary to check with Dr. Rosen concerning a work release.  On April 14, 2008, Dr. Tolbert signed a work release form stating the claimant had been disabled from February 14, 2008 and would be totally disabled until after he had a PCE.  Dr. Rosen opined the claimant could not return to his job at the time of his injury.  Dr. Hadley opined whether he could return to his job at the time of injury depended on how he progressed with his cognitive therapy.  As the claimant argues, the only evidence in the record the claimant was medically stable is the opinion of EME physician Williams in his April 30, 2008 EME report, and we do not rely on Dr. Williams’ opinion, as discussed above.  We find, based on the medical reports and testimony of doctors Tolbert, Rosen and Hadley, the claimant is not yet medically stable, and has been totally disabled from his employment at the time of injury starting from February 14, 2008 and ongoing.  We shall order the employer to pay the employee TTD benefits from February 14, 2008 and ongoing.  The employer is entitled to an offset for the §.041(k) benefits paid after February 13, 2008.  The claimant shall pay back the unemployment insurance benefits he received while he was not receiving workers’ compensation benefits, which, based on his testimony, he is already doing.

IV.  PENALTY

AS 23.30.155(e) provides, in part:

If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it.  This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section or unless the nonpayment is excused by the board after a showing by the employer that owing to conditions over which the employer had no control the installment could not be paid within the period prescribed for the payment. . . .

AS 23.30.155(e) provides a 25 percent penalty on all benefits which are not controverted and which were not timely paid.  Although the employer knew as of March 24, 2008 that it should contact Dr. Rosen to find out whether there were any work restrictions on the claimant, the employer apparently did not do so.  In addition, Dr. Tolbert made it crystal clear in his April 14, 2008 statement to the employer that the claimant was totally disabled from his job at the time of his injury as of February 14, 2008 and ongoing, until after he underwent a PCE.  Nevertheless, the employer still refused to pay TTD benefits to the claimant.  The employee claims penalties under AS 23.30.155(e) based on the employer’s controversion of TTD benefits.   

The employer argues it relied on Dr. Tolbert’s initial, February 13, 2008 statement, as well as statements in Dr. Tolbert’s medical records, but the employer offers no credible explanation of why it failed to contact Dr. Rosen concerning work restrictions, and why it failed to acknowledge Dr. Tolbert’s explicit April 14, 2008 statement concerning the claimant’s status as totally disabled from February 14, 2008 until after a PCE is completed.

The Alaska Supreme Court held in Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc.(Harp),
 that an employer or insurer must have specific evidence for a good faith controversion:  

A controversion notice must be filed in good faith to protect an employer from imposition of a penalty.... For a controversion notice to be filed in good faith, the employer must possess sufficient evidence in support of the controversion that, if the claimant does not introduce evidence in opposition to the controversion, the Board would find that the claimant is not entitled to benefits.

In this decision, we have determined the employer was liable for certain additional TTD benefits, which were controverted by the employer on March 13, 2008, and not paid.  The employer’s controversion was based on Dr. Tolbert’s opinion of February 13, 2008, which he retracted with his April 14, 2008 statement.  In addition, the employer had been on notice since March 24, 2008, that it should contact Dr. Rosen concerning the claimant’s disability status.

We cannot find the controversion of the employee’s TTD benefits was done in good faith.  The Board found a penalty was appropriate in Lindekugel v. Easley Co. (Lindekugel), 
 a case with a fact pattern similar to that in the instant case.  In Lindekugel,
 the employer controverted benefits based on a doctor’s opinion, but the rationale for the doctor’s opinion was subsequently rejected by the Alaska Supreme Court.  In addition, subsequent to the Court’s decision, the doctor changed his opinion so that the controversion was no longer supported by the doctor’s opinion.  Nevertheless, even after the decision by the Alaska Supreme Court, and the doctor’s altered opinion, the employer maintained the controversion.  The Board found the employer’s controversion was not supported by substantial evidence after the doctor altered his opinion, so that the employer’s controversion was no longer protected from penalties under AS 23.30.155(e) after the date of the altered opinion.  The Board awarded a penalty for benefits not timely paid.  In accord with the Alaska Supreme Court’s ruling in Harp,
 and the Board’s ruling in Lindekugel,
 we find the controversion was not valid from the time the employer became aware it should contact Dr. Rosen concerning the claimant’s disability and ability to return to his job at the time of injury, which is March 24, 2008.  At the latest, the controversion was not valid as of April 14, 2008, when Dr. Tolbert stated unequivocally the claimant was totally disabled from February 14, 2008 until a PCE was completed.  We conclude the employee is due a 25 percent penalty on all the TTD benefits not timely paid following the controversion, under AS 23.30.155(e) by operation of law.  We shall order the employer to pay the claimant a 25 percent penalty on the TTD benefits from February 14, 2008 to July 29, 2008, the date when the employer began to pay the employee §.041(k) benefits.  We shall also order the employer  to pay a 25% penalty of the difference between TTD benefits and §.041(k) benefits already paid from July 29, 2008 until the date the employer commences payment of TTD benefits, pursuant to this Decision and Order.
V. INTEREST
8 AAC 45.140 provides, in pertinent part:

Interest. (a)  If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid…at the rate established in AS 09.30.070(a) for an injury that occurred on or after July 1, 2000.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.

(b)  The employer shall pay the interest

  (1)  on late-paid time-loss compensation to the employee, or if deceased, to the employee’s beneficiary or estate;

  ….

  (3)  on late-paid medical benefits to


(A) the employee or, if deceased, to the employee’s beneficiary or estate, if the employee has paid the provider or the medical benefits;


(B) to an insurer, trust, organization, or government agency, if the insurer, trust, organization, or government agency has paid the provider of the medical benefits; or 


(C) to the provider if the medical benefits have not been paid.

AS 23.30.155(p) provides:

An employer shall pay interest on compensation that is not paid when due.  Interest is required under this subsection accrues at the rate specified in AS 09.30.070(a) that is in effect on the date the compensation is due.

For injuries which occurred on or after July 1, 2000, AS 23.30.155(p) and our regulation at 
8 AAC 45.142 requires the payment of interest at a statutory rate, as provided at 
AS 09.30.070(a), from the date at which each installment of compensation, including medical compensation, is due.  The Courts have consistently instructed us to award interest to claimants for the time-value of money, as a matter of course.
  We find interest should be paid at the statutory rate for the loss of the time value of the benefits pursuant to 8 AAC 45.142, AS 23.30.155(p) and AS 09.30.070(a).  We shall order the employer to pay interest on any past due benefits.

VI. Attorney’s Fees and Costs

AS 23.30.145 states, in pertinent part:

(a) Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 percent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded. . . .

(b)  If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee. The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

The employee is seeking actual attorney fees under AS 23.30.145(b). The Alaska Supreme Court noted in Williams v. Abood
 as follows: 

We have held that awards of attorney's fees under AS 23.30.145 "should be fully compensatory and reasonable, in order that injured workers have competent counsel available to them."  However, this does not mean that an attorney representing an injured employee in front of the board automatically gets full, actual fees. We held in Bouse v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Co. that an employee is entitled to "full reasonable attorney's fees for services performed with respect to issues on which the worker prevails." (Footnote omitted) 

Further, the award of attorney fees and costs must reflect the contingent nature of workers’ compensation proceedings. 

As we have noted, the objective of awarding attorney's fees in compensation cases is to ensure that competent counsel are available to represent injured workers.  Wien Air Alaska v. Arant, 592 P.2d at 365-66.  This objective would not be furthered by a system in which claimants' counsel could receive nothing more than an hourly fee when they win while receiving nothing at all when they lose.
 

Based on our review of the record, we find the employer controverted the employee’s claim, and the employee’s attorney has successfully obtained benefits for the employee.  Specifically, we find the employee’s attorney effectively prosecuted the employee’s entitlement to benefits.  The Board concludes we may award attorney's fees under AS 23.30.145(b).  

AS 23.30.145(b) requires the award of attorney's fee and costs be reasonable.  Our regulation 8 AAC 45.180(d) requires a fee awarded under AS 23.30.145(b) be reasonably commensurate with the work performed.  It also requires that the Board consider the nature, length and complexity of the services performed, as well as the benefits resulting from the services.  In our awards, the Board attempts to recognize the experience and skills exercised on behalf of injured workers, and to compensate the attorneys accordingly.
  

In light of these factors, we have examined the record of this case.  The employee’s affidavits of fees and costs and statement at the hearing itemize the following for Attorney Steven Constantino:  1) 58.10 hours of attorney time at $325.00 per hour, totaling $18,882.50; 2) 28.4 hours of paralegal time at $125.00 per hour, totaling $3,550.00; and costs totaling $177.52.  Thus, the total fees and costs for Attorney Steven Constantino is $22,610.02.

We note the claimed hourly rate of $325.00 is within the reasonable range for experienced employees’ counsel in other cases,
 based on expertise and years of experience.  We found the employee counsel’s brief and arguments at hearing of great benefit to us in considering the disputes in this matter.  We find this was a contested case, and this hourly rate is reasonable.  We will award actual attorney fees at the rate of $325.00 per hour, paralegal fees at $125.00 per hour, and costs of $177.52.  Having considered the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the resistance of the employer, as well as the benefits resulting from the services, we find the above-mentioned attorney fees reasonable for the successful prosecution of the employee’s claim for benefits, and we will award a total of $22,610.02 as reasonable attorney fees, paralegal fees, and costs.  


ORDERS

1.  The employer shall pay past medical benefits, to include those medical costs listed in the claimant’s hearing brief exhibit 15, and ongoing medical benefits pursuant to AS 23.30.095.

2.  The employer shall pay TTD benefits to the claimant from February 14, 2008 and ongoing, pursuant to AS 23.30.185.

3.  The employer is entitled to a credit against the TTD benefits, for the §.041(k) benefits paid from February 27, 2008 until the TTD benefits are paid.

4.  The claimant shall repay to the State of Alaska the amount he received in unemployment insurance benefits.  The claimant shall provide proof of payment in full to the Board within 14 days of having paid in full. 

5.  The employer shall pay a penalty of 25 percent, under AS 23.30.155(e), on all past-due TTD benefits awarded by this decision, specifically, on the TTD benefits from February 14, 2008 to July 29, 2008, and on the difference between the TTD benefits and the §.041(k) benefits already paid from July 29, 2008 to the date the employer commences payment of TTD benefits pursuant to this Decision and Order. 

6.  The employer shall pay interest under AS 23.30.155(p) and 8 AAC 45.142, on all late-paid benefits awarded in this decision, from the date each installment of compensation was due.

7.  The employer shall pay the claimant’s attorney $22,610.02 in attorney fees and costs, pursuant to AS 23.30.145.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on December ___, 2008.
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If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court. 

If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.

APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.
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